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Agenda

▪ Overview of Research Grant Fraud

– Changing Landscape & Government 

Priorities

– Legal Framework and Case Examples

▪ Self-Disclosure

– Mandatory & Voluntary Disclosures 

– Risks & Benefits of Self-Disclosure 

– Mechanics

▪ Recent Enforcement Trends 
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DHHS OIG’s Grants Self-Disclosure Protocol

▪ Applicable to non-federal entities that are 

recipients of awards or sub-awards made by 

HHS

▪ Discusses:

– Mandatory self-disclosure

– Voluntary self-disclosure 

– OIG Sanctions 

– Submission Protocol 

– Compliance Hotline 

▪ June 2019 Guidance, “HHS OIG Grant Self-Disclosure Program”
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DHHS OIG’s Grants Self-Disclosure Protocol

The grant self-disclosure program 

“provides HHS award recipients and sub-

recipients with a framework for disclosing, 

coordinating, evaluating, and resolving 

potential violations of law relating to their 

awards or sub-awards.”
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OIG Sanctions for Improper Conduct 

▪ OIG may impose sanctions for anyone that engages in 

fraud or other improper conduct related to HHS grants and 

contracts. 

▪ Includes: 

– Presenting a specified claim under a grant, contract, or 

agreement that is false or fraudulent;

– Knowingly making or using any false statement, omission 

or misrepresentation of a material fact in any application, 

proposal, bid, progress report, or other document 

submitted to HHS.

▪ Penalties include civil monetary penalties, assessments, or 

exclusion from Federal health care programs. 
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Overview of Research Grant Fraud

What is the DHHS OIG Role?

– Aims to curb waste, fraud and abuse in DHHS programs

– Investigates fraud related to the grants from HHS Operating 

Divisions

▪ Including: NIH, CDC, FDA, AHRQ, HRSA, SAMHSA, 

▪ OIG may leverage the assistance of the HHS Operating 

Divisions, FBI, DOJ, and/or the Financial Fraud Enforcement 

Task Force to investigate grant fraud

– Brings administrative actions, negotiates settlements

– Manages exclusions from federally funded healthcare programs 
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Overview of Research Grant Fraud

▪ HHS Exclusions Program 

– OIG has the authority to exclude individuals and entities from 

federally funded healthcare programs.  § 1128 of the Social 

Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7. 

– Those who are excluded can receive no payment from Federal 

healthcare programs for any items or services they furnish, order, 

or prescribe. 

– OIG maintains a list of currently excluded individuals, the “LEIE”

▪ Anyone who hires an individual or entity on the list can be 

subject to civil monetary penalties. 
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Overview of Research Grant Fraud

Why?

To ensure that “taxpayer dollars are not wasted, and that 

organizations that receive these funds are truthful in their 

dealings with federal agencies… and in the research 

findings they present to the scientific community, and the 

public, as a whole.”

Why?

“Taxpayers expect and deserve that federal grant dollars 

will be used efficiently and honestly.  Individuals and 

institutions that receive research funding from the federal 

government must be scrupulous in conducting research 

for the common good and rigorous in rooting out fraud….”

❖ Statement of Matthew G.T. Martin, U.S. Attorney, United District Court for the 

Middle District of North Carolina 

❖ Statement of Harold H. Shaw, Special Agent in Charge of the FBI, Boston Field 

Division on the Partners Healthcare and Brigham and Women’s Hospital settlement 
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Types of Grant Fraud & Penalties

Types

▪ Research Misconduct – Involves the falsification of research results or 

manipulation of research data 

▪ Cost Allocation/Accounting schemes – Involves the misappropriation 

of grant funds or the  improper allocation of costs in an effort to 

artificially comply with grant requirements  or maximize grant 

reimbursements

– Common examples: improper reporting, time & effort, indirect costs

▪ Misleading or untruthful applications – Involves misconduct in the 

grant application process
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Types of Grant Fraud & Penalties

Penalties

▪ Prohibition from receiving future government funding (i.e. exclusion)

▪ Administrative recoveries of funds

– Recovery of funds outside of the context of “fraud”

▪ Civil law suits, and 

▪ Criminal prosecution
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Grant Fraud Enforcement Processes

Three types of Enforcement Actions

▪ Administrative

– Civil monetary penalties

– Before an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”)

– Standard: “preponderance of evidence”

▪ Civil 

– False Claims Act and other civil frameworks 

– Before a Judge or Jury

– Standard: “preponderance of evidence”

▪ Criminal

– Various 18 U.S.C. charges;

– Before a Judge or Jury

– Standard: Beyond a Reasonable Doubt
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Changing Landscape

– More than 80% of NIH’s $42 FY2020 billion 

budget goes to research grants and 

contracts (up about $2billion from FY2019). 

– NIH’s funding is awarded through almost 

50,000 competitive grants to more than 

300,000 researchers at more than 2,500 

universities, medical schools, and other 

research institutes in the U.S. and around 

the world 

– NIH is the largest public funder of 

biomedical research in the world and the 

second-largest U.S. federal research 

funding agency

– Focus on fraud is increasing.

Nature 2018;557:297-9

https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/25/science/duke-

settlement-research.html

https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/25/science/duke-settlement-research.html
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Civil Monetary Penalties Law, 42 U.S.C. 1320a-7a

“On December 13, 2016, President Obama signed into law the 21st Century Cures 

Act…the Act makes numerous changes to laws that govern Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA) programs, clinical research regulations, and Medicare 

coverage and reimbursement rules.”

The Act provides HHS with a new tool to enforce against fraud and abuse 

involving HHS grants, contracts, or other agreements. 
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Civil Monetary Penalties Law, 42 U.S.C. 1320a-7a

▪ 21st Century Cures Act (2016) expanded scope of the Civil Monetary 

Penalties (“CMP”) Law, 42 U.S.C. 1320a-7a

– The CMP Law provides HHS tools to penalize various forms of 

fraud and abuse.  

▪ OIG gained new authority to impose penalties for false or fraudulent 

claims, statements, omissions or representations of material fact in 

connection with applications and funded awards. 

▪ CMPs can range from $0 to $10,000 or $50,000 per individual offense 

or $10,000 for each day certain offenses are concealed, with 

additional damages of  up to three time the government’s actual 

losses for some claims. 

▪ OIG may exercise its administrative federal health care program 

exclusion authority
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False Claims Act Law, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 - 3733

▪ Penalties can range from $5,500 to $11,000 for each false claim 

submitted, with additional damages of  up to three times the 

government’s actual losses for some claims. 

– OIG may exercise its administrative federal health care program 

exclusion authority

▪ Under the qui tam provisions of the False Claims Act, a whistleblower, or 

“relator”, can initiate a FCA action on behalf of the government. 

– A qui tam relator can recovery between 10% and 30% of the total 

recovery 

▪ In FY2018, the DOJ recovered more than $2.8 billion in settlements and 

judgments from civil cases involving the FCA.

– $2.5 billion involved the health care industry   

– $2.1 billion stemmed from qui tam law suits
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Grant Enforcement Trends – FCA Cases

Institution Date Settled Settlemen

t Amount 

Compliance 

Agreement?

Category of Misconduct and How Discovered

Duke University 3/25/2019 $112.5 

million

No Research misconduct

*qui tam filed 2013

University of Texas Health 

Science Center

1/31/2019 $2.3 

million 

No Misappropriated grant funds by purchasing unnecessary

material so the funds would not have to be paid back 

Brigham & Women’s Hospital 4/27/2017 $10 million No Research misconduct

*voluntary disclosure

University of Florida 11/20/2015 $19.8 

million

No Improper charges and insufficient documentation of salaries

Northeastern University 8/18/2015 $2.7 

million

Yes – 5 

years 

Improper cash advances

Northwestern University 7/30/2013 $2.9 

million

No Misuse of grant funds

*qui tam filed 2009

Weill Medical College of Cornell 

University

3/5/2009 $2.6 

million

No Omission of other supports/commitments

*qui tam filed 2004

Yale University 12/23/2008 $7.6 

million

No Mischarged costs, cost transfers, sub-recipient monitoring

Mayo Clinic Foundation 5/26/2005 $6.5 

million

No Mischarged and inappropriately transferred grant costs

*qui tam filed 

George Washington University 4/19/2005 $1.8 

million

No Fictitious and unauthorized expenses; embezzlement 

*voluntary disclosure

University of Alabama –

Birmingham

4/14/2005 $3.4 

million

No False billing and overstatement of work effort on application

*two qui tam actions filed April 2001 and Jan. 2004

Florida International University 2/15/2005 $11.5 

million

No Mischarged and overbilled costs

*investigation arose from OIG audit

Johns Hopkins University 2/25/2004 $2.6 

million

No Misleading grant application and overstatement of work in 

reports

*qui tam filed 1999

New York University Medical 

Center

4/7/1997 $15.5 

million

No Inflated research grant costs

*qui tam filed 1993
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Grant Enforcement Trends – Criminal Cases

Institution Date Settled Sentence Restitution Category of Misconduct and How 

Discovered

Yiheng

Percival 

Zhang

Virgina Tech

September 2019 3 months in prison, home 

incarceration for two 

years

N/A Caused fraudulent grant proposals to be 

submitted to the NSF under the SBIR.  

Zhang obtained funding for research he 

knew had already been done in China 

and used the money for other projects; 

submitted falsified timesheets to the 

government investigators.

Hailong

Zhang

University of 

New 

Hampshire

December 2018 2 years probation $5,500 Used NIH grant money to purchase gift 

cards and submitted a fictitious receipt 

and written justification to conceal the 

expenses

Alexander 

Neumeister

NYU/Yale

October 2018 3 years probation $76,000 Routinely used grant funds for personal 

expenses, travel, family and friends trips 

and meals

Dong-Pyou

Han

Iowa State 

University 

July 2015 57 months in prison $7.3million Falsified data to make it appear as 

though an experimental HIV vaccine 

efficacious in rabbits

Craig Grimes

Penn State

November 2012 41 months in prison $641,000 Received grants from two federal 

agencies for use in research and clinical 

trials that never took place
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Changing Landscape 



23

Duke University -- $112.5 million under FCA

▪ Theory: false claims based on research misconduct

▪ Allegation: Duke knowingly submitted claims to NIH and EPA with falsified 
or fabricated data or statements in roughly 30 grants between 2006 and 
2018.

▪ Joseph Thomas, a former Duke Lab analyst turned whistleblower 
filed a FCA suit on behalf of the government airing the allegations 
of Duke’s impropriety.  

– Claimed that another researcher, Erin Potts-Kant, had 
fabricated data linked to as much as $200 million in federal 
research grants.

– Ms. Potts-Kant was fired for embezzling funds and eventually 
pleaded guilty to two counts of forgery and was order to 
restitution. 

▪ In a settlement, the University agreed to pay $112.5 million which 
includes reimbursement of the grants obtained as a result of the 
falsified data and additional penalties
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Duke University – OIG Statement

Maureen R. Dixon, Special Agent in Charge, Office of 

Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health 

and Human Services when commenting on the case 

espoused that the HHS OIG  “will continue to hold such 

grantees fully accountable regardless of the length or 

complexity of the investigations.”  
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Partners & Brigham and Women’s -- $10 million 
under FCA

▪ April 27, 2017

▪ Theory: False claims based on research misconduct

▪ Allegation: Partners knowingly submitted to NIH with falsified or fabricated data and 
images suggesting heart stem cells may grow new heart cells.  Brigham and 
Women’s became aware of the allegations in 2014 and investigated the allegations.

▪ Disclosure:  Partner’s disclosed to OIG and ORI; OIG coordinated with DOJ.

▪ Dr. Anversa, along with Dr. Annarosa Leri and Dr. Jan Kajstura, knew or 
should have known that their laboratory created and relied upon manipulated 
and falsified information in applications submitted for NIH research grants.

– Partners disclosed the issue to the NIH 

▪ The government flagged that the lab maintained improper protocols, 
recklessly or deliberately performed misleading record-keeping, and included 
discrepancies and/or fabrications of data in applications and publications

▪ Of the case, U.S. Attorney William D. Weinreb stated that “institutions that receive 
research funding from NIH have an obligation to conduct their research honestly and 
not to alter results to conform with unproven hypotheses … Medical research fraud 
not only wastes scarce government resources but also undermines the scientific 
process and the search for better treatments for serious diseases. We commend 
Brigham and Women’s for self-disclosing the allegations of fraudulent research… 
and for taking steps to prevent future recurrences of such conduct.”
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Partners & Brigham and Women’s– OIG 
Statement

Of the case, U.S. Attorney William D. Weinreb stated that “institutions that 

receive research funding from NIH have an obligation to conduct their 

research honestly and not to alter results to conform with unproven 

hypotheses … Medical research fraud not only wastes scarce government 

resources but also undermines the scientific process and the search for 

better treatments for serious diseases. We commend Brigham and 

Women’s for self-disclosing the allegations of fraudulent research… and for 

taking steps to prevent future recurrences of such conduct.”
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Columbia University -- $9.5 million under FCA

▪ Theory: False claims based on cost allocation/accounting schemes 

▪ Allegation: Columbia knowingly submitted to NIH roughly 400 grants 
between 2003 and 2015.

▪ Disclosure:  Columbia admitted to improperly seeking and receiving 
excessive cost recoveries in connection with roughly 400 research grants 
funded by the NIH

– From 2003 to 2015, the University impermissibly applied its “on-
campus” indirect cost rate – instead of the much lower “off-
campus” indirect cost rate – when seeking federal 
reimbursement for over  400 NIH grants for research that was 
primarily performed at off-campus facilities 

– The University failed to disclose to NIH that it did not own or 
operate these facilities and that Columbia did not pay for use of 
the space for most of the relevant period.

▪ University officials contested the Government findings, stating that the 
school “believed in good faith” that it was appropriate to apply the on-
campus rate for research performed in municipal buildings located on 
University’s medical center campus
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Columbia – OIG Statement

Of the investigation, HHS-OIG Special Agent in Charge Scott 

J. Lampert said: “It is disturbing that Columbia University, a 

prestigious institution, would improperly seek excessive cost 

reimbursements from NIH, as alleged in the settlement.  

Money gained by such behavior deprives other research 

programs of funds that could yield life-altering new 

treatments.”
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Criminal Convictions 

▪ United States v.  Y. P. Zhang (Indictment filed on Nov. 21, 2017 in US District Court for the 

Western District of Virginia; judgment filed 2/19; Sentence filed Sept. 6, 2019)

– Convicted for one count of conspiracy to defraud the United States, three counts of 

making false statements, and one count of obstruction by falsification in connection with 

Small Business Innovation Research awards from NSF and DOE where work was 

previously completed in China.

▪ United States v. Neumeister (Complaint filed 11/28/17 in the District Court for the Southern 

District of New York, sentenced 10/10/2018)

– Pled guilty to theft of government funds (18 U.S.C. § 641) for stealing $87,000 from 

NYU as well as from other grant programs between 2012 and 2014.  He used the 

money for personal travel and expenses.  

– Neumister received a sentence of probation, and was ordered to play the piano at least 

twice a week in facilities for the elderly across Connecticut. 

▪ United States v. Dong-Pyou Han (Indicted June 2014 in the U.S. District Court of the 

Southern District of Iowa Sentenced July 1, 2015)

– Pled guilty to two counts of making false statements to the NIH.  He falsified data 

related to HIV experiments in rabbits. 
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Criminal Claims – Recent Indictments

▪ United States v. Tao (indictment filed Aug. 21, 2019 in US District Court for the 

District of Kansas).

– Failure to disclose a talent program, financial conflict of interest and fraud 

involving NSF & DoE contracts [18 U.S.C. §§ 666, 1343; up to 20 years in 

prison & up to $250,000]
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Theories of Liability

▪ Research Misconduct

▪ False Statements in Application or Progress Reporting

– Qualification for Award

– Science supporting Award

▪ Double Dipping

▪ Cost Accounting/Allocation errors

– Time & Effort Reporting

▪ Sub-recipient monitoring



32

Source of Law -- Grant Terms and Conditions

– As a condition of applying for and 

administering federal research funds, 

recipients must certify to a myriad of 

terms and obligations related to the 

veracity of their application, financial 

stewardship, and research ethics. 

– Becomes effective upon draw down of 

funds.
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Handling of FCA Qui Tam Suits (DOJ Justice Manual)

One of Congress's objectives in modifying the Act was to encourage the 

use of qui tam actions in which citizens are authorized to bring, as "private 

Attorneys General," lawsuits on behalf of the United States alleging frauds 

upon the government

The relator must do the following to initiate a qui tam suit:

1. file the civil complaint under seal with the court (the defendant is not 

served at this time); and

2. serve a copy of the complaint and a "written disclosure of 

substantially all material evidence and information" possessed by 

the relator on both the Attorney General and the United States 

Attorney
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Background: Handling of FCA Qui Tam Suits

Given this brief period, it is necessary to gather as much information as 

quickly as possible. To this end, it is important that United States 

Attorneys promptly forward a copy of a qui tam complaint and 

statement of evidence to the Commercial Litigation Branch of the Civil 

Division…The Commercial Litigation Branch will contact the agency 

involved, the Criminal Division, and, frequently, the Inspector General of 

the agency, to determine if the allegations are known to them and to 

obtain an assessment of the material evidence furnished by the relator. 

The government has 60 days from the date service is completed and the 

statement of material evidence is submitted, whichever is late, to notify 

the court of its decision.
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Source of Law: FCA & DOJ Duty to Investigate

▪ 31 U.S.C. 3730(a) Responsibilities of the Attorney General 

– The Attorney General diligently shall investigate a violation 

under section 3729. If the Attorney General finds that a person has 

violated or is violating section 3729, the Attorney General may 

bring a civil action under this section against the person.

▪ 31 U.S.C.30(b) Actions by Private Persons

– A person may bring a civil action for a violation of section 3729 for 

the person and for the United States Government. The action shall 

be brought in the name of the Government. The action may be 

dismissed only if the court and the Attorney General give written 

consent to the dismissal and their reasons for consenting. 
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Agenda
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Disclosures by HHS Award Recipients

▪ Mandatory Disclosures (45 C.R.F. § 75.113)

– Recipients and sub-recipients of Federal 

awards are required to timely disclose in 

writing all violations of Federal criminal law 

that involve fraud, bribery, or gratuity 

violations potentially affecting their award.

▪ Voluntary Disclosures 

– Recipients of HHS awards may voluntarily 

disclose conduct causing liability under the 

CMP Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7a, or any 

other conduct that does not clearly fall within 

the scope of offenses requiring mandatory 

disclosure 
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Voluntary Self-Disclosure 

▪ Self-disclosure is voluntary for conduct causing liability under the CMP 
Law or any other conduct that may impact the award and might violate 
civil or administrative laws so long as it does not trigger requirements of 
45 C.F.R. 75.113. 

▪ CMP Law, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320a-7a(o)(1)-(5)

▪ OIG may impose civil monetary penalties, assessments, and 
exclusion from receipt of federal funds or participation in federal 
health care programs for false or fraudulent claims, as well as 
making or causing to be made false statements, omissions, or 
representations of material facts, in connection with applications 
and funded awards. 

▪ Examples of conduct potentially warranting voluntary (and maybe 
mandatory) self-disclosure:

– Misstated facts in grant applications, progress reports, certifications, 
and other documents submitted to HHS

– Conflicts of Interest 
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OIG Guidance Promotes Self-Disclosure

“Prompt disclosure, full cooperation, and 

robust internal investigation of potential 

violations are key indicators of an award 

recipient’s integrity.”

“As such, OIG rewards disclosures that self-

disclose potential violations and cooperate 

during the disclosure process by imposing a 

lower penalty amount that would normally be 

required….Further, OIG operates with a strong 

presumption against requiring a discloser to 

enter integrity agreements in exchange for a 

release of OIG’s administrative Federal health 

care program exclusion authority.”
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Risks & Benefits of Voluntary Self-Disclosure

▪ Longer history in Medicare and Medicaid context – Can be less 
disruptive, faster, cheaper and result in favorable outcomes

▪ Basically: securing benefit of the doubt versus rolling the dice

▪ Benefits:

– Favorable treatment compared to responding to government-initiated 
investigation

– OIG can coordinate with HHS Operating Divisions and DOJ

▪ OIG may weigh in to support favorable outcome

▪ Presumption against Integrity Agreement

▪ Risks

– Increased government scrutiny and oversight

– Government may initiate additional or deeper investigation

– Negotiated settlement to resolve the matter
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Risks & Benefits of Voluntary Self-Disclosure

▪ Voluntary disclosure offers a direct benefit to disclosing institutions but 

may also invite more government scrutiny and oversight. 

Voluntary 
Self-

Disclosure

No Voluntary 
Self-

Disclosure

Presumption against an 
integrity agreement 

Disclosure offers 
possibility of 

reduced sanctions

Government may initiate 
investigation following 

disclosure 

Control the narrative 

Support for global 
settlement 

Negotiated 

settlement 

Government will 

seek details about 

the process and 

corrective actions
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Mechanics of Self-Disclosure

▪ Disclosers should complete the HHS OIG Grant Self-Disclosure 

Submission Form and submit by either mail or e-mail. 
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Mechanics of Self-Disclosure

▪ The submission should contain:

– Basic identifying information 

– Point of contact and name of individual authorized to enter into 

settlement

– Affected awards

– Description of the conduct being disclosed, including date, type of 

conduct, time period, and names of implicated individuals 
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Mechanics of Self-Disclosure

▪ The submission should contain:

– Description of corrective actions taken 

– Statement of criminal, civil, and administrative laws that are potentially 

violated 

– Description of financial impact to the Federal government

– List of Federal agencies from whom discloser is currently receiving 

awards and whether any Government agency has a current inquiry or 

investigation into such behavior 

– Certification 
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Recent Examples

▪ Grantee Self-Disclosure Settlements 

Date Institution Conduct Settlement

08-01-2019 Duckwater 

Shoshone Tribe

Alleged violation of the CMP Law for submitting 

false claims to the Indian Health Service.  Funds 

were allegedly diverted for personal use. 

$16,589.53

06-24-2019 Total Health Care, 

Inc. 

Alleged violation of the CMP Law for employing an 

individual that it knew or should have known was 

excluded from participation in Federal health care 

programs. 

$151,280.45

03-01-2019 Michigan State 

University

Alleged violation of the CMP Law for using funds to 

reimburse a sub-recipient in violation of restrictions 

from entering into covered transactions with 

debarred individuals. 

$47,580

12-18-2018 Save the Children 

Federation, Inc. 

Alleged violation of the CMP Law for creating 

records for mileage reimbursement that lacked 

required supporting documents and were material to 

claims made to HHS. 

$4,146



46

Alternatives to Voluntary Disclosure 

▪ Repayment options exist outside of the context of the grant self-

disclosure program.

▪ NIH may identify and administratively recover funds paid to a recipient 

at any time during the life cycle of the grant.

▪ NIH’s website provides guidance on the repayment of grant funds that 

are unrelated to audit findings. 

– Repayments may trigger a voluntary or mandatory self-disclosure
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Alternatives to Voluntary Disclosure 
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Horizon Scanning: DHHS OIG Audit Activities

▪ In September 2019, the OIG published 

three reports raising questions about NIH 

policies and practices for peer review, 

conflicts of interest, and other concerns in 

extramural research grants.

▪ OIG is continuing to review NIH’s peer 

review process, pre-award process for 

assessing risk of grant applications, and 

post-award oversight, reviews expected to 

be published in 2020.

▪ Potential Duplication of NIH 

Research Grant Funding

▪ NIH’s Peer Review Process for 

Evaluating Grants
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Horizon Scanning: Duplication and Overlap

▪ OIG review of NIH’s internal controls for identifying duplicative grant 

funding within in 27 institutes

– Risk in SBIR (“Small Business Innovation Research”) funding 

– March 25, 2019 report identified “vulnerabilities” in the SBIR 

Program and recommended HHS improve procedures to check for 

duplication 
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Take-Aways

▪ Conduct timely and complete internal investigations

▪ Determine if Mandatory or Voluntary Disclosure

▪ If Mandatory → Follow Protocol

▪ If Voluntary → Weigh risks and benefits before reporting

▪ In all cases: 

– Stop any ongoing misconduct and research support stemming 

from misconduct

▪ Correct the error going forward

– Consider and implement appropriate corrective actions
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